74053-9

FILED March 31, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

74053-9

NO. 74053-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

D. D.-H.,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY, JUVENILE DIVISION

The Honorable Raquel Montoya-Lewis, Judge The Honorable David Thorn, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JARED B. STEED Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error

The juvenile court has authority to toll community supervision when a juvenile is on warrant status. But, the juvenile court's jurisdiction to enforce its disposition order terminates when the community supervision period expires. Due process also requires that notice be given when the court exercises inherent authority to toll community supervision. When appellant's 12-month community supervision expired, there were no outstanding warrants and no alleged violations of supervision. Nor had the juvenile court entered any orders addressing tolled time or extending community supervision beyond the 12 months stated in the disposition order. Nonetheless, at an alleged violation hearing held after appellant's 12-month community supervision period ended, the juvenile court determined for the first time that appellant's community supervision would be tolled for an additional 122 days. Did the juvenile court lose

 $^{^{2}}$ The August 12, 2015, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Pursuant to JuCR 7.11(d) are attached as Appendix B.

jurisdiction to toll appellant's community supervision when it failed to exercise its authority to do so before the 12-month community supervision expired?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The Whatcom county prosecutor charged 14-year-old appellant D.D.-H. with one count each of third degree theft and minor in possession of alcohol for alleging taking a bottle of Jägermeister liquor from a grocery store. CP 1-2. D.D.-H. pled guilty as charged in exchange for the prosecutor's recommendation of 12 months probation as to both counts. CP 5-10.

On February 19, 2014, D.D.-H. received a standard range disposition of 15 days confinement with credit for time already served and 12 months of community supervision to begin "immediately." CP 11-17. The conditions of community supervision required that D.D.-H. complete a drug and alcohol evaluation and comply with any treatment recommendations; refrain from using drugs and alcohol and submit to random urinalysis testing; report regularly to his probation officer; attend school regularly; not commit further offenses; and have no contact with the grocery store involved in the charged incident. CP 15.

Between February 24, 2014 and December 20, 2014, the juvenile court issued and served four bench warrants on D.D.-H. when his

-3-

probation officer alleged D.D.-H.'s whereabouts were unknown and that he was not complying with his conditions of community supervision. CP 36 (findings of fact 7-11); 48-74, 77-78, 79-80.

Four probation violation hearings were held between May 1, 2014 and December 30, 2014. CP 36 (findings of fact 7-11). At each of the four hearings, the juvenile court found D.D.-H. had not complied with the terms of his community supervision and imposed additional community supervision conditions, including: attend treatment as directed; enroll in and attend a school program; meet with a behavior health specialist; and participate in individual counseling weekly. CP 18-23, 75-76. The juvenile court also imposed additional detention time following each probation violating hearing: five days after the first violation; seven days after the second violation; 15 days after the third violation; and 20 days after the fourth violation. CP 18-23, 75-76. The remaining portions of the original February 19, 2014 disposition order "remain[ed] in full force and effect" after each Order Modifying Community Supervision was entered. CP 18-23, 75-76.

At none of the four probation violation hearings was tolling of community supervision discussed, nor were court orders entered applying tolled time or extending community supervision beyond the 12 months stated in the February 19, 2014 disposition order. CP 36 (finding of fact

-4-

12); CP 43 (finding of fact 2.7); 1RP³ 4. By the express terms of the February 19, 2014 disposition order, the 12-month term of community supervision expired on February 19, 2015. CP 36 (finding of fact 13); CP 44 (finding of fact 2.8). At that time, D.D.-H. had no outstanding warrants and the State had not filed any notice of alleged violations of community supervision. CP 36 (finding of fact 14); CP 44 (finding of fact 2.9);1RP 5.

On February 24, 2015 another bench warrant was issued based on the probation officer's allegations that beginning on February 22, 2015, D.D.-H.'s whereabouts were unknown. CP 77-78. The warrant was served on D.D.-H. the following day. CP 79-80. On March 4, 2015 the State petitioned to modify the terms of D.D.-H.'s community supervision alleging he had violated several terms of his disposition order. CP 81-83.

At the hearing on March 11, 2015, D.D.-H. argued the juvenile court had lost jurisdiction by virtue of the fact the juvenile court never exercised its authority to toll D.D.-H.'s community supervision prior to the end of the 12-month supervision period which ended February 19, 2015. CP 24-28; 1RP 6, 9, 17-20. Defense counsel also argued that D.D.-H. was never provided with the required notice as to what period of time the juvenile court intended to toll his community supervision. 1RP 19-20.

³ This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP – March 11, 2015; 2RP – March 23, 2015; 3RP – July 30 & 31, 2015.

Accordingly, D.D.-H. requested that his alleged disposition violations be dismissed and his community supervision terminated. CP 28; 1RP 19.

The State responded that <u>State v. V.J.</u>, 132 Wn. App. 380, 384, 132 P.3d 763 (2006), was controlling because it allowed the juvenile court to toll community supervision time. 1RP 10; 3RP 11; CP 84-96. The State maintained that D.D.-H.'s community supervision had not expired on February 19, 2015 because the juvenile court had not yet had a full 12 months in which to supervise him because of his prior time on warrant status. 1RP 10-15, 21-22, 84-96.

The juvenile court commissioner denied D.D.-H.'s motion to dismiss, finding that a full 12 months of community supervision was needed and that D.D.-H. had missed about 3 months of supervision when he was on warrant status. 1RP 24; 2RP 45; CP 36 (finding of fact 17); CP 37 (conclusion of law 4). The commissioner further concluded that it had inherent authority to toll D.D.-H.'s community supervision retroactively, "even though it's later than it should have been." 1RP 25-28; CP 36-37 (conclusions of law 1, 2, 4). Accordingly, the juvenile court added 122 days to D.D.-H.'s community supervision, thereby extending his community supervision until June 21, 2015. 1RP 46-48; CP 37 (conclusions of law 5-6). The juvenile court recognized that D.D.-H. was never given notice that the probation department sought to toll his

-6-

community supervision prior to February 19, 2015. CP 36 (finding of fact 15). Subsequent orders modifying D.D.-H.'s disposition and community supervision were entered on on March 11, 2015, May 15, 2015, and August 6, 2015. CP 29-30, 38-41.

D.D.-H. moved to revise the commissioner's ruling denying his motion to dismiss community supervision. 3RP 3; CP 31-34, 97-151. The State maintained that <u>V.J.</u> controlled, that D.D.-H. was not entitled to notice of tolling, and that the juvenile court was not required to take affirmative action in order to initiate tolling. 3RP 11-13, 15-16, 152-67.

The Whatcom County Superior Court denied the motion to revise. 3RP 31; CP 42-44. The court concluded that <u>V.J.</u> was factually distinguishable, but that D.D.-H. required community supervision for a full 12-month period in order to give effect to the rehabilitative purposes of the juvenile justice act. 3RP 30-33; CP 43 (conclusions of law 3.3-3.4). The court was not troubled by the lack of notice provided to D.D.-H. regarding the tolling of community supervision, finding that he "was not entitled to notice and an opportunity to be heard concerning the application of tolled time." 3RP 33; CP 43 (conclusion of law 3.6).

D.D.-H. timely appeals. 45-47.

-7-

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE JUVENILE COURT ORDERS MODIFYING COMMUNITY SUPERVISION AND DISPOSITION ARE VOID AND MUST BE STRICKEN BECAUSE THE JUVENILE COURT LOST JURISDICTION WHEN IT FAILED TO TOLL SUPERVISION BEFORE THE END OF APPELLANT'S 12-MONTH SUPERVISION PERIOD.

The juvenile court's jurisdiction is limited to that provided by statute. State v. V.J., 132 Wn. App. 380, 384, 132 P.3d 763 (2006). As part of a dispositional order in a non-sex offense case, a juvenile court may impose a period of community supervision for up to one year. RCW 13.40.020(5). The juvenile court may modify the original disposition only when the juvenile is found to have failed to comply with the requirements of supervision. RCW 13.40.200. Although not expressly authorized by statute, the juvenile court has authority to toll community supervision when the juvenile is on warrant status. V.J., 132 Wn. App. at 387. However, a juvenile "court's jurisdiction to enforce its disposition order terminates when the community supervision period expires, unless a violation proceeding is then pending before the court." State v. May, 80 Wn. App. 711, 717, 911 P.2d 399 (1996); State v. Y.I., 94 Wn. App. 919, 923-24, 973 P.2d 503 (1999). Whether a court has jurisdiction is a question of law reviewed de novo. Y.I., 94 Wn. App. at 922.

Here, D.D.-H. received a disposition that included 12 months of community supervision beginning on February 19, 2014. CP 11-17. By its express terms, the 12-month term of community supervision expired on February 19, 2015. CP 13; CP 43 (finding of fact 2.8). At the time the community supervision expired, D.D.-H. had no outstanding warrants and the State had not filed a notice of alleged violations of supervision. CP 43 (finding of fact 2.9). Nor had the juvenile court entered any orders addressing tolled time or extending community supervision beyond the 12 months stated in the February 19, 2014 disposition order. CP 43 (finding of fact 2.7). Because the juvenile court's jurisdiction expired on February 19, 2015 without a pending violation proceeding, outstanding warrant, or court order tolling D.D.-H.'s community supervision beyond that set forth in the disposition order, the juvenile court lost jurisdiction. The subsequent juvenile court orders modifying D.D.-H.'s disposition and community supervision entered in March, May, and August are void and must be reversed because the juvenile court no longer has jurisdiction.

<u>V.J.</u> is instructive by way of contrast. V.J. was sentenced to 12 months of community supervision. During the community supervision period, V.J. left an in-patient treatment facility without permission. When the State informed the juvenile court of this fact, a bench warrant was issued. <u>V.J.</u>, 132 Wn. App. at 382. The warrant was served 71 days after

-9-

community supervision had ended. The juvenile court found that V.J. had violated the terms of her community supervision and imposed detention. Id.

V.J. sought revision of the juvenile court order, arguing that the court was without jurisdiction because the community supervision period had expired. The superior court ruled that the juvenile court had inherent power to toll the period of juvenile probation. <u>Id.</u> Noting the rehabilitative goals of the juvenile justice act, this Court affirmed the superior court's decision, holding that "the juvenile court has authority to toll community supervision *when the juvenile is on warrant status*." <u>V.J.</u>, 132 Wn. App. at 387 (emphasis added).

<u>V.J.</u> is distinguishable from the present situation for several reasons. First, significantly, V.J. was on warrant status at the time the original community supervision period ended. Thus, the outstanding warrant allowed the court to retain jurisdiction even when the original supervision period ended. <u>Compare State v. Todd</u>, 103 Wn. App. 783, 789-90, 14 P.3d 850 (2000) (court retained jurisdiction where the State moved to revoke a deferred disposition three weeks before the supervisory period ended) with, <u>Y.I.</u>, 94 Wn. App. at 921 (order requiring juvenile to pay victim penalty assessments reversed for lack of jurisdiction because petition to review conditions was filed after supervision period had

-10-

terminated). In contrast, here D.D.-H. was not on warrant status, and the State had not instituted violation proceedings before the supervisory period ended on February 19, 2015. CP 44 (finding of fact 2.9). Thus, unlike $\underline{V.J.}$, here there was no mechanism by which the juvenile court retained jurisdiction over D.D.-H.'s supervision beyond that date.

Most importantly however, <u>V.J.</u> does not address the issue presented here: whether, the juvenile court loses jurisdiction to toll community supervision when it utterly fails to exercise its authority to do so before expiration of the supervisory period. Because there is no case factually identical with D.D.-H.'s case, comparison with cases addressing a juvenile court's jurisdiction to enforce its disposition order after the community supervision period expires, are instructive.

In <u>May</u>, the Court of Appeals reversed a juvenile court's order imposing detention for violation of provisions of disposition order because that modification was entered after the community supervision period had ended. 80 Wn. App. at 717. On January 12, 1993, May pled guilty to residential burglary and second-degree burglary. May was given 12 months of community supervision, and ordered to complete several other conditions, as part of his disposition order. <u>May</u>, 80 Wn. App. at 712. On January 10, 1994 May's probation counsel submitted a report to the prosecutor's office alleging that May had failed to comply with the conditions of his community supervision. Ten days later, the prosecutor's office instituted a show cause proceeding regarding the alleged violations. <u>May</u>, 80 Wn. App. at 713.

At the violation hearing held two weeks later, May argued the juvenile court lacked jurisdiction because the community supervision period ended before the prosecutor instituted the violation proceedings. The juvenile court concluded that as long as the alleged violation information was brought in a "reasonable amount of time," and the juvenile was given proper notice of the alleged violation, then disposition of the violations need not occur within the community supervision period. <u>May</u>, 80 Wn. App. at 713. The superior court affirmed, concluding the court retains jurisdiction over juveniles until age 18 and, absent a showing of prejudice, could impose sanctions after expiration of the community supervision period. <u>May</u>, 80 Wn. App. at 713-14.

On appeal, the Court disagreed. <u>May</u> established a "bright-line rule," and concluded that a juvenile court's jurisdiction to enforce its disposition order terminates when the community supervision period expires, unless a violation proceeding is already pending before the court. <u>May</u>, 80 Wn. App. at 716-17. In distinguishing a juvenile court's authority to modify disposition orders from adult probation revocation proceedings, which permit a sentencing court to retain jurisdiction to enforce the requirements of a sentence until they are met and/or a certificate of discharge is provided upon completion of the sentence, the Court noted that a juvenile offender, "is at the mercy of the State's administrative bureaucracy." <u>May</u>, 80 Wn. App. at 716.

The purpose behind May's "bright-line rule" carefully limiting juvenile court jurisdiction is to protect juveniles from the same type of "administrative inertia" that occurred in this case. May, 80 Wn. App. at 716-17; see also Y.I., 94 Wn. App. at 924 (recognizing that a juvenile should not be "under constant threat of incarceration until his or her 18th birthday."). D.D.-H. appeared before the juvenile court on four separate occasions before the 12-month supervisory period ended. CP 43 (findings of fact 2.3-2.6). Consequently, the juvenile court had ample opportunity to exercise its authority to toll D.D.-H.'s during his 12-month supervisory period. Instead, for the entire 12 months, the court inexplicably took no action with respect to tolling. No court orders were entered addressing tolled time or extending community supervision. 1RP 4; CP 43 (finding of fact 2.7). No discussions were held regarding the possibility of tolled time or community custody extensions. 1RP 4; CP 43 (finding of fact 2.7). The State made no requests that the community supervision be tolled or extended. 1RP 4. In fact, no mention whatsoever was made of tolling until defense counsel argued that the juvenile court had lost jurisdiction to modify D.D.-H.'s community supervision pursuant to the State's March 4, 2015 notice of alleged violations. Only after the March 11, 2015 hearing, did the juvenile court decide to toll D.D.-H.'s community supervision, "even though it's later than it should have been." 1RP 25-26, 28.

To hold that a juvenile court can, for the first time, exercise its authority to toll community supervision after the supervisory period has already ended would render meaningless the "bright-line rule" that a juvenile court's jurisdiction to enforce its disposition order terminates when the community supervision period expires.

Additionally, due process concerns arise when juveniles are not, as D.D.-H. was not, given notice of the possibility of tolling or the specific facts alleging why tolling is warranted. It is well established that when a court exercises its inherent authority to toll community supervision over a probationer, the court is required "to provide notice to probationers not only of proposed revocations, but also extensions, and advise them that they have a right to a hearing." <u>State v. Campbell</u>, 95 Wn.2d 954, 958-59, 632 P.2d 517 (1981); <u>See also RCW 13.40.200(2)</u> (juvenile entitled to "same due process of law as would be afforded an adult probationer."). "Such a rule is needed because of the potential for prejudice in ex parte extensions of probation." <u>Campbell</u>, 95 Wn.2d at 958. Here, D.D.-H. was

not provided with notice, prior to expiration of his community supervision period on February 19, 2015, of the juvenile court's intent to extend his community supervision beyond the original 12-month period. Nor was D.D.-H. advised that he had a right to a hearing to address the tolling of supervision. Accordingly, D.D.-H.'s due process rights were also violated when the juvenile court decided to toll his community supervision after his supervisory period has already ended.

The juvenile court lost jurisdiction to modify D.D.-H.'s community supervision and disposition when it failed to exercise its authority to toll supervision before expiration of the 12-month community supervision period. The juvenile court orders modifying community supervision should be reversed, the alleged disposition violations dismissed, and D.D.-H.'s probation should be terminated.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should reverse the juvenile court orders modifying community supervision, dismiss the alleged violations, and terminate D.D.-H.'s probation.

DATED this $3/5^{+}$ day of March, 2016.

Respectfully submitted, NHELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH JARED B. STEED WSBA No. 40635 Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Appellant

APPENDIX A

•	Provide the contraction of the second s				
	FILED IN OPEN COURT				
1	<u>3-23</u> 2015 WHATCOM COUNTY CLERK SCALENINED				
3	By				
5	Deputy				
7					
9	IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON				
11					
13	STATE OF WASHINGTON,				
15	Plaintiff,) No. 13-8-00372-2				
17) vs.) [Defense's Proposed]				
19) FINDINGS OF FACT AND) CONCLUSIONS OF LAW				
21	DOB: 03-28-99				
23	Respondent.)				
25	THIS MATTER having come on before the above-entitled Court for a Defense Motion to				
27	Prepresented by Deputy Prosecutor, Evan P. Jones, and the Respondent being represented by				
29	argument of counsel, now enters the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law:				
	I. FINDINGS OF FACT:				
31	1. The facts are not in dispute				
33	2. On February 24, 2015 a bench warrant was issued for Determunder this cause number.				
35	 On February 25, 2015, Department was arrested and that warrant was served. On February 26, 2015, a detention hearing was held for his return on the bench warrant, a 				
37	probation violation hearing was scheduled for March 5, 2015, and he was held on two				
39	hundred and fifty dollars bail. 5. On March 4, 2015, the State filed a Notice of Alleged Violation of Community				
41	Supervision alleging that D				
43	6. In the present case, a 12-month term of community supervision began on February 19, 2014, when the Respondent was adjudicated guilty of Theft 3 and Minor in Possession of				
45	Intoxicants. The Disposition Order reads at Section 4.5: COMMUNITY				
47	SUPERVISION: Count I: 12 months, Supervision beginning immediately; Count II: 12 months, Supervision beginning immediately.				
49					
	FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW - 1 Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney 311 Grand Avenue, Suite #201 Bellingham, WA 98225 (260) 266-6784				

Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784 (360) 738-2532 Fax

10K

1	7. Following the disposition, the Respondent had several periods of warrant status, during which time he was unavailable for supervision by the Court.
3	 8. The first warrant was issued on 2/27/14, and served on 4/25/14. A detention hearing was
5	held on 4/28/14 where a probation violation hearing was scheduled and bail was imposed. A probation violation hearing was held on 5/1/14 and Determines disposition was modified
7	by the Court. 9. The second warrant was issued on 6/09/14, and served on 6/28/14. A detention hearing
9	was held on 6/30/14 where a probation violation hearing was scheduled and bail was imposed. A probation violation hearing was held on 7/3/14 and Depter s disposition was
11	modified by the Court. 10. The third warrant was issued on 9/04/14, and served on 9/20/14. A detention hearing was
13	held on 9/22/14 where a probation violation hearing was scheduled and bail was imposed. A probation violation hearing was held on 9/25/14 and Destination was modified
15	by the Court.
17	11. The fourth warrant was issued on 11/20/14, and served on 12/20/14. A detention hearing was held on 12/22/14 where a probation violation hearing was scheduled and bail was imposed. A probation violation hearing was held on 12/30/14 and D
19	was modified by the Court. 12. No court orders were ever entered applying tolled time or extending community
21	supervision beyond that stated in the February 19, 2014 Disposition Order and it was
23	never discussed at any court hearings. 13. By the express terms of the February 19, 2014 Disposition Order, and absent the
25	application of any tolled time, the 12 month term of community supervision expired on February 19, 2015.
27	14. The present Notice of Alleged Violations of Community Supervision contains allegations of acts/omissions occurring after February 19, 2015.
29	15. Besides being aware of the Respondent's time spent on warrant status, neither the Court
31	nor the Respondent was given notice that the probation department sought to toll supervision, prior to February 19, 2015.
33	16. The Respondent was born on March 28, 1999 and is currently 15 years. 17. <u>In this case, a full 12 months at community SuperVision</u>
35	War, and remains receivants to ensure best offarts at relicbilistion at the respondent. And
37	Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact the Court makes the following Conclusions of Law:
39	
41	II. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW: and indication over the unforced of 1. The Court has jurisdiction over a Respondent on community supervision for each non-sex
43	1. The Court has jurisdiction over a Respondent on community supervision for each non-sex offense for up to one year. of fits Dispose from Order and the logo of the former of the logo of the former of the logo of the former of the logo of the log
45	2. When a juvenile is on warrant status, and is thus not subject to the court's supervision, the Court has the authority to toll community supervision for that period.
47	 In juvenile court, probation officers do not have the authority to toll supervision.
49	
	FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW - 2 Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney 311 Grand Avenue, Snite #201 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784 (360) 738-2533 Fox
	(360) 738-2532 Fax

1 4. In order to facilitate the express purposes of the Juvenile Justice Act, and ensure best efforts at rehabilitation of a juvenile, a juvenile court has the inherent authority to toll a 3 respondent's community supervision, to effectuate the original disposition order. 5. Therefore, the Court is now tolling D 5 time that he was on warrant status and unavailable for supervision: 122 days. 6. At this time, his community supervision will expire on June 21, 2015. 7 7. 9 11 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Defense Motion to Dismiss the Notice of Alleged Violations of Community Supervision and Terminate Supervision 13 is hereby DENIED. ENTERED this 22 day of Mart., 2015. 15 17 19 David M. Thorn Superior Court Commissioner 21 Presented by: Approved as to form: 23 Evan P. Jones, WSBA# 40608 Mamie Lackie WSBA #91001 25 Attorney for Respondent Deputy Prosecutor 27 29 31 33 35 37 39 41 43 45 47 49 FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW - 3 Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney 311 Grand Avenue, Suite #201 Bellingham, WA 98225 360) 676-6784 360) 738-2532 Fax

APPENDIX B

SCANNED	
2	

FILED CONSTY CLERK 2015 AUG 12 PM 4: 08 WHATCOM COUNTY WASHINGTON

8Y.....

SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY OF WHATCOM

STATE OF WASHINGTON v.

DATE DESCRIPTION

Respondent(s).

D.O.B.:3-28-99

No: 13-8-00372-2

FINDINGS OF FACT and CONCLUSIONS OF LAW PURSUANT TO JUCR 7.11(d)

I. HEARING

- 1.1 On July 30, 2015, the Court held a hearing on Respondent's Motion to Revise pursuant to RCW 2.24.050.
- 1.2 Persons appearing at the hearing were:

☑ Probation Counselor ☑ Respondent
 ☑ Prosecutor ☑ Respondent

☑ Respondent's Attorney
 □ Other(s) _____

II. FINDINGS

Based on the witnesses exhibits presented, and after having considered the arguments of counsel and the case record to date, the court makes the following findings:

- 2.1 On February 19, 2014, the Respondent entered a guilty plea and was sentence to 12 months of community supervision under cause number 13-8-00372-2.
- 2.2 Following disposition, the Respondent had several periods of warrant status, during which time he was unavailable for supervision by the Court.
- 2.3 The first warrant was issued 2/27/14 and served on 4/24/14. A probation violation hearing was held 5/1/14 and the Respondent's disposition was modified by the Court.
- 2.4 A second warrant was issued on 6/9/14 and served on 6/28/14. A probation violation hearing was held on 7/3/14 and the Respondent's disposition was modified by the Court.
- 2.5 A third warrant was issued on 9/4/14 and served 9/20/14. A probation violation hearing was held on 9/25/14 and the Respondent's disposition was modified by the Court.
- 2.6 A fourth warrant was issued on 11/20/14 and served 12/20/14. A probation violation hearing was held on 12/30/14 and the Respondent's disposition was modified by the Court.
- 2.7 No court orders were ever entered addressing tolled time or extending community supervision beyond that stated in the February 19, 2014 Order on Disposition, nor was it ever discussed at any court hearings.

FINDINGS and CONCLUSIONS ON REVISION HEARING - Page 1 of 3

- 2.8 By the express terms of the February 19, 2014 Order on Disposition, and absent any application of tolled time, the 12 month term of community supervision expired on February 19, 2015.
- 2.9 On February 19, 2015 there was not an outstanding warrant nor had a Notice of Violations of Supervision been filed.
- 2.10 A fifth warrant was issued on 2/24/15 and served on 2/25/15. A Notice of Violations was filed on 3/4/15 and a probation violation hearing was held on 3/5/15, at which point the Respondent challenged the jurisdiction of the court.
- 2.11 At the Respondent's hearing challenging the jurisdiction of the court on March 11, 2015, the juvenile court ruled against the Respondent and extended the Respondent's supervision for a period of 122 calendar days.

III. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based on the findings of fact, the court concludes:

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