74053-9





2016 JUN - 3 PM 2: 14

No. 74053-9-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

۷.

D.D-H., Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY #13-8-00372-2

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DAVID S. McEACHRAN, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney

By PHILIP J. BURI WSBA #17637 Special Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Respondent Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784



#

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

#### ARGUMENT

### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews Respondent's challenges to jurisdiction de novo. <u>State v. V.J.</u>, 132 Wn. App. 380, 382, 132 P.3d 763 (2006) ("our review is de novo").

## IV. WARRANT STATUS AUTOMATICALLY TOLLS THE PERIOD OF COMMUNITY SUPERVISION

Respondent acknowledges that the juvenile court has authority to toll the period for community supervision, but argues that did not happen here. First, he asserts that to toll the supervision period beyond a year, a juvenile must be on warrant status or in violation when the Disposition Order terminates. "At the time community supervision expired, D.D-H. had no outstanding warrants and the State had not filed a notice of alleged violations of supervision." (Opening Brief at 9). Second, Respondent claims that the juvenile court had to expressly toll the supervision period when it found probation violations. "No court orders were entered addressing tolled time or extending community supervision." (Opening Brief at 13). Neither argument is correct. When Respondent violated his community supervision, those periods of non-compliance are automatically excluded.

## A. <u>Violating Community Supervision At Any Point Tolls</u> The Supervision Period

Respondent faults the juvenile court for not tolling the supervision period before the term of the disposition order ended.

Because the juvenile court's jurisdiction expired on February 19, 2015 without a pending violation proceeding, outstanding warrant, or court order tolling D.D-H.'s community supervision beyond that set forth in the disposition order, the juvenile court lost jurisdiction. The subsequent juvenile court orders modifying D.D-H.'s disposition and community supervision entered in March, May and August are void and must be reversed because the juvenile court no longer has jurisdiction.

(Opening Brief at 9). This argument has three flaws.

First, because Respondent's intentional violations undermined his community supervision, tolling is automatic. The time D.D-H. spent on warrant status is automatically excluded once the court finds a probation violation. The Supreme Court explained

this automatic tolling in City of Spokane v. Marquette.

The general principle is that the running of the probationary period is tolled while the probationer is not subject to the jurisdiction of the court. By not counting time during which the probationer is not actually supervised, this rule ensures that the municipal court has two years of actual supervision to rehabilitate the probationer. Courts must give full effect to legislative enactments, and that means in this situation preserving the municipal court's two years.

<u>City of Spokane v. Marquette</u>, 146 Wn.2d 124, 130-31, 43 P.3d 502

(2002) (citation omitted).

The court need not rule expressly that the supervision period

is tolled. Once it finds a violation, the court may automatically

exclude time spent on warrant status.

The probationary period is tolled while a probationer is sought on a warrant. Washington case law establishes that a probationer's term of probation is tolled for any period in which the probationer is not actually under the court's supervision. Such a probationer does not divest the court of limited jurisdiction to enforce compliance with the terms of probation. Federal authorities likewise state that a probationer does not receive credit for time during which he or she is not actually under the court's supervision by virtue of his or her own wrongful act.

Marquette, 146 Wn.2d at 134.

Second, as long as a probation violation is raised before the

supervision period ends, the juvenile court has jurisdiction to address

it. This Court in <u>State v. V.J</u>, emphasized the purpose of tolling – to accomplish the purposes of the Juvenile Justice Act.

Supervision can accomplish nothing if the juvenile absconds for the duration of the supervision period. We hold that the juvenile court has authority to toll community supervision when the juvenile is on warrant status.

<u>State v. V.J.</u>, 132 Wn. App. 380, 387, 132 P.3d 763 (2006). Here, the State gave notice of the additional supervision time long before the 122 tolled days expired. The juvenile court retained jurisdiction to modify Respondent's Disposition Order to reflect the additional time.

Third, Respondent need not be on warrant status when the Disposition Order ends to toll the supervision period. Citing both <u>V.J.</u> and <u>State v. May</u>, 80 Wn. App. 711, 911 P.2d 399 (1996), Respondent argues that a juvenile must be in warrant status when the disposition order ends because both V.J. and May were. But this confuses a necessary condition with a sufficient one. Both <u>V.J.</u> and <u>May</u> involved probation violations that occurred at the end of the Disposition Order. There was no excluded time before that. Under those circumstances, the juvenile court had jurisdiction to add tolled time to the supervision period. <u>V.J.</u>, 132 Wn. App. at 387 (tolling "when the juvenile is on warrant status"); <u>May</u>, 80 Wn. App. at 717

(jurisdiction ends "unless a violation proceeding is then pending before the court").

In <u>V.J.</u> and <u>May</u>, pending probation violations were sufficient to extend the juvenile court's jurisdiction. But tolling occurs whenever a juvenile wrongfully avoids supervision – whether at the beginning, middle, or end of the Disposition Order's term. And as detailed below, the juvenile court need not expressly toll the supervisory period to extend jurisdiction. Once the court finds a probation violation, the juvenile's time on warrant status is automatically excluded from the completed supervisory time.

### B. <u>Tolling is Automatic</u>

Citing <u>May</u>, Respondent asserts that a juvenile court must add tolled supervisory time to the Disposition Order before the one-year mark. Otherwise, the bright-line rule in <u>May</u> extinguishes jurisdiction. (Opening Brief at 12). But in <u>May</u>, the respondent was never on warrant status and had no tolled supervisory time. Without tolled time, the period for community supervision expired when the disposition order terminated. "The court's jurisdiction to enforce its disposition order terminates when the community supervision period expires." <u>May</u>, 80 Wn. App. at 716-17.

Where a respondent was on warrant status, that time does not satisfy the community supervision period. In other words, the supervision period is tolled when respondent is intentionally absent. And the juvenile court maintains jurisdiction until the community supervision period expires.

Finally, Respondent argues that he must have notice of the tolled time when the juvenile court finds a probation violation. In <u>State v. Campbell</u>, 95 Wn.2d 954, 959, 632 P.2d 517 (1981), the Supreme Court concluded that adult probationers should have notice "not only of proposed revocations, but also extensions..." Respondent alleges that "due process concerns arise when juveniles are not, as D.D-H. was not, given notice of the possibility of tolling or the specific facts alleging why tolling is warranted." (Opening Brief at 14).

No court has held that a juvenile respondent must have notice that tolling is a consequence of avoiding community supervision. Here, the court gave Respondent notice before every hearing about the facts of his alleged violations. Furthermore, Respondent had an opportunity at each hearing to provide evidence and contest a violation. And he had notice at his last hearing that the State

requested an additional 122 days of community supervision to make up for days on warrant status.

There is no requirement that the State and the juvenile court notify Respondent at each violation hearing that community supervision was tolled. Instead, Respondent must have the opportunity to contest any alleged violations – and the addition of supervisory time – at a hearing held before the period of community supervision expires. Respondent had that opportunity here.

#### CONCLUSION

By failing to report for probation and avoiding community supervision, Respondent D.D-H. chose to undermine the juvenile court's oversight. Washington law automatically excludes time on warrant status from community supervision. Because the juvenile court appropriately required D.D-H. to make up 122 days of missed time, the State of Washington respectfully requests this Court to affirm the extension of community supervision and dismiss this appeal.